

[image: ]










INHERITED RISK:


ERROL AND SEAN FLYNN IN HOLLYWOOD AND VIETNAM


JEFFREY MEYERS









[image: ]






















FOR ALEX COLVILLE



















“There is something awe-inspiring in one who has lost all inhibitions, who will do anything.”


Scott Fitzgerald, Tender is the Night
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One


Sean’s Life, 1941-1965





I


On April 6, 1970 the war photographer Sean Flynn–the brave, charismatic son of Errol Flynn–rode his motorcycle into a roadblock, was captured by the Vietcong and vanished forever into the jungle. When Errol died at the age of fifty in 1959, Sean was eighteen years old. He was brought up by his mother, the French actress Lili Damita, and rarely saw his father, whom Lili divorced when Sean was an infant. Errol became a remote, even mythical figure, yet his dynamic personality and notorious reputation had a great influence on Sean’s life. Like his father, Sean was handsome, charming, athletic, courageous and artistically talented. He inspired the friendship of men and the adoration of women. Sean also inherited his father’s love of risk, and in adult life he tried to free himself from Errol’s overpowering legacy by establishing his own heroic reputation.


Errol rebelled against the puritanism and hypocrisy of the 1930s, ’40s and ’50s. Sean, a privileged child of his generation, became part of the ’60s hippy rebellion. He wore long hair, listened to rock music, was influenced by Eastern religion, smoked pot, took hallucinatory drugs and had a free-wheeling sex life. But Sean was not a mere hedonist. He constantly searched for extreme experiences and became part of an elite group of journalists who risked their lives to record the battles in Vietnam. For Sean, the greatest “high” was danger, the thrill of risk an end in itself.


Errol and Sean Flynn both had a daring, rebellious approach to life and epitomized reckless romanticism. Like Errol, Sean left home to travel the world and became an actor and journalist. Sean went to New Guinea because Errol had lived there. Like their mutinous Bounty ancestor Edward Young with his Tahitian girl and Errol with his teenage “wood nymph” in Jamaica, Sean planned to flee “civilization” and establish an idyllic life on the tropical island of Bali. Sean inherited Errol’s belief in his own invincibility and escalated the level of risk. The young Errol was accused of murder; Sean actually killed a man in combat.


Their family drama concerns image-making and moral corruption in Hollywood and Vietnam. It portrays the overwhelming urge to self-destruction by a father who didn’t give a damn about anything, including himself, and a son who felt compelled to follow in his footsteps. In a revealing autobiographical moment in The Dawn Patrol (1938), one of his better films, the character played by Errol observes: “My father, a professor of biology at Queen’s University, says: ‘Man is a savage animal who, to relieve his nervous tension, tries to destroy himself.’” Being Errol’s son propelled Sean toward his fate, and his final, gallant, suicidal gesture carried the Flynn tradition to its inevitable conclusion.


II


The unusual circumstances of Sean’s birth and the mutual hatred of his parents complicated the troubled relations of father and son. Errol’s best moments with Lili Damita were over before they married. At thirty-nine, fearful that time was running out, she tricked him into getting her pregnant after they’d been estranged for many years and burdened him with the responsibility of an unwanted child. Insisting that he should pay for his pleasures, she exclaimed: “Fleen, you think you’ve screwed every dame in Hollywood, but now I’ve screwed you, my friend. You will have a child!” Lili’s deception and Sean’s close ties to a woman Errol hated made the father resent his son. Lili–still in love with Errol and always very jealous–remained bitterly vindictive after he’d rejected her and shattered her ego. She devoted many years of her life to pursuing him through the divorce courts and trying to destroy him.


Wanting to protect her son from the malign influence of his father and the movie world, Lili moved across the country to Palm Beach, Florida, when Sean was still a baby. She called Errol despicable and, by frequently changing her mind and canceling the arrangements, made it difficult for him to visit the child. Though Errol put pressure on her by withholding money, she made sure that her impressionable son saw very little of his father when he was growing up.


Sean was deeply attached to Lili, who became a powerful presence in his life. She provided a solid bourgeois background: taught him polite behavior, gave him a good education and supplied him with money. But Sean also had a lot of Errol in him. Despite Lili’s efforts, he naturally identified with and admired his godlike father, who seemed all the more appealing during Sean’s visits to Errol’s glamorous surroundings. They went to night clubs in New York and sailed in the Mediterranean and the Caribbean. Like most boys, Sean saw himself as a replica of his father. But Errol had been demonized in the eyes of his mother and the press.


Errol was never able to establish with Sean the same strong bond he had with his own father. A paradoxically indifferent yet devoted parent, he was incapable of looking after Sean, but saddened to lose him. When estranged from his second wife, Nora Eddington, he struggled for the possession of his younger daughter, Rory. He told Nora: “You can’t take my two kids away from me. You must leave me one. Lili took Sean away. I won’t have it happen again.”1 When Sean was ten Errol invited him to the set of Kim and, as if he were acting in the movie, dressed him up as a little Indian boy, complete with dark skin, turban and a little Errol-like mustache. Fascinated by guns and playing with a pistol in a desk drawer, the young Sean once fired an accidental shot at Errol. As a teenager, Sean spent a month or two of his summer holidays aboard Flynn’s yacht, the Zaca. After a typical brawl on the boat, Sean suddenly appeared from below with a revolver and reassured Errol: “You didn’t have a thing to worry about, Pop. I had them covered all the time.”


The sophisticated and worldly Errol taught Sean in his own way. He gave him boxes of condoms and, as a rite of passage, took him to classy brothels in France and Italy. The actor George Hamilton, Sean’s school friend, noted how the good manners he’d learned from Lili merged with Errol’s eagerness to give him sexual experience. Hamilton once met father and son at Errol’s favorite New York nightclub, El Morocco. “Sean was sitting with a hooker his dad had picked up for him” and was always “the perfect gentleman, even with a whore.”


When Errol introduced him to his teenage girlfriend Beverly Aadland, only a year younger than his son, Sean thought Beverly was supposed to be his date. When Beverly provoked a wrestling match between father and son, Errol was keen to show off. He pinned Sean to the floor, but as Sean tried to throw him off he knocked Errol’s weak left knee out of commission. Errol loved to tease Sean about Beverly. He laughed and scolded: “Don’t talk that way to your mother! … Don’t look so amazed, son. This little girl may well be your mother some day!”2


Despite the glamorous surroundings, Sean saw his father in the bad years. Inwardly torn, profoundly unhappy about his career and fearing he was a total failure, Errol drank heavily, took drugs and became a physical wreck. He tried to be a “groovy dad,” but didn’t want Sean to follow in his footsteps or become stained by his notorious public image. He admitted that he wasn’t much of a parent and hardly knew his children. But when Sean became old enough to be a good companion, Errol–then living in Europe and Jamaica–tried to spend as much time with him as he could. He rather optimistically concluded that “Sean and I were destined to become close pals and he now … looks like me but better.” Alluding to his unhappy relations with Lili, he added: “Out of this impossible snarl of two volatile people there came something good anyway.”


Sean was torn between antagonistic parents and profoundly ambivalent about his father. After Errol’s death he said, “Dad and I were friends,” though they rarely saw each other, and praised his father’s “zest for life.” But, striving to establish his own identity, he also tried to distance himself from his father. Ignoring Lili’s past efforts to keep them apart, Sean expressed resentment about Errol’s loving neglect. He claimed that he didn’t want to talk about Errol, but obsessively returned to him in a series of hostile statements about this remote yet overwhelming figure:




I never knew my old man. And that is OK because he never knew me.


 


I’ve hardly seen any of his films, apart from Captain Blood. We really didn’t know each other.3


 


[The past] is all dead and buried and I want to forget it. I never saw any of Flynn’s pictures–certainly not Captain Blood, which I am told was a lot of junk…. Flynn means nothing to me. I’m me and I don’t want people to keep digging up his name. I’m not particularly proud of it…. We weren’t very good friends.


 


My mother brought me up practically single-handed…. It would have been nice to know my old man some. So many people tell me they knew him well. But I wonder sometimes how many did. How many knew my old man at all. [Living in his shadow] used to worry me but now I think of it more as a funny thing. I didn’t know my father well, he was a busy man.





When Sean met David Niven in the south of France in the early 1960s, he shocked the actor by exclaiming: “I know you were a friend of my father. Please don’t mention his name to me.” A reporter who interviewed Sean when he started making his own movies recorded that “Sean is bitter about his father–whom he won’t discuss but who keeps slipping into his thoughts and conversation nevertheless. ‘If anyone brings up his name, I’ll just get up and walk away!’ he told me. ‘That’s all people want to hear–what Errol did. How should I know? He sired me, that’s all. He left mother a year after I was born, and although he won visitation rights, he hardly ever exercised them.’”4 While trying to shape his own individuality and make his way in the world, Sean grieved for Errol. He was also bitter about the loss of a father who’d been mainly absent during his childhood and had died in the arms of his teenage girlfriend. By imitating him and attempting to surpass his reckless behavior, Sean tried to forge a bond with his dead father.


III


Sean Flynn was born in Beverly Hills on May 31, 1941 while Errol, deliberately distancing himself from the happy event, was sailing his boat, the Sirocco, off the California coast. (Significantly, Errol gives the wrong date for Sean’s birth in his autobiography.) The following year Lili divorced Errol and moved to Palm Beach, a prosperous town of socialites and millionaires. Raised as a Catholic, Sean grew up in a two-story, oriental-style house at 136 Woodbridge Road–now adjacent to Donald Trump’s estate. When he was two years old the adventurous boy got his foot caught in a drainpipe and had to be sawn free by the local firemen.


Sean attended an elite Palm Beach private school from the first through eighth grades and was remembered there as a beautiful child with perfect manners. Since Lili doubted whether a single mother should bring up a son (and Errol was then living in Europe), she sent Sean to the Black-Foxe Military School in Hollywood, California. The once-coddled boy, unhappy under this two-year spartan regime, would beg Lili: “Can I come home and see my friends?” The following year he transferred to Palm Beach Country Day School.


In 1957–when he was sixteen and began seeing Errol during his summer holidays–the preppy-looking Sean appeared on British television in The Strange Auction episode of the Errol Flynn Theatre. In the fall he returned to the east coast and spent the next three years at Lawrenceville, a first-rate private school near Princeton, New Jersey. He liked the school, which was closer to home, much better than Black-Foxe. Passionate about sports, hunting, fishing, parties, girls and, later on, photography, Sean (like Errol) had no interest in academic studies and never applied himself in school. After two months at Lawrenceville, he proudly told Lili that the coach “thinks I have that rare quality of being a ‘natural athlete.’” He worked hard to make All-American in swimming because he thought it “would impress his father,” and during his senior year made the varsity swimming, soccer and track teams.5


After seeing Errol in New York in October 1957, during his first term at Lawrenceville, Sean wrote him: “I just got back here a while ago and you don’t know damned awful it is [at boarding school]. Naturally, I had a good time with you and both Johns, so that made coming back all the harder…. When you get a chance try and drop your old son a line…. At least there is some good news–at least my teachers think so–I passed all my exams but one. This sounds unimpressive, I know, but I expected to drop three.” In a letter to Lili that month, Sean (having followed his father’s exploits in the gossip columns) alluded to Errol’s third wife, Patrice Wymore, whom he’d married in 1950 and supplanted with Beverly Aadland in 1957. He thought of Lili as constant (she did not remarry till after Errol’s death), his father as mercurial: “I had a good time in New York with dad–and it seems what the papers say is true. That he doesn’t love Pat any more.”6


In April 1958 the Lawrenceville dean dolefully reported Sean’s poor mid-term grades–74 in English, 62 in French, 61 in Chemistry, 57 in Math–and issued an official warning about his academic status: “We are indeed sorry that his work continues to be in such shape as to warrant Scholastic Warning…. The real problem is not one of ability so much as it is a problem of motivation…. As you can see Sean is currently in the bottom quarter.”


When things failed to improve by the end of the academic year, Errol’s father, Professor Theodore Flynn, who taught in Belfast but kept in touch with Sean, attempted to buck him up with the same well-intentioned but guilt-inspiring advice he had once given Errol: “Your education is costing a good deal and you must make your mother and father feel that it has been well spent.” Two months later, while Sean was cavorting with Errol, the Assistant Headmaster told Lili that Sean had flunked a class in her own native language (they didn’t speak French at home). His disastrous scholastic performance would force him to spend three years at Lawrenceville (instead of two) and he would not graduate until he was nineteen: “He started out last year as a Fourth Former (11th grade) but was demoted during the year when he dropped his Physics. Then in June he failed French III (second year French). This, therefore, leaves him two courses short of senior status, and there is no way in which he can make up this work between now and next June.” Defining himself through his father’s image, Sean later recalled that “my school grades were always lousy. I’m just not a scholar…. I’m what you might call a hedonist, a young man specializing in pleasure.”7


Steve Cutter, Sean’s closest friend in Palm Beach, vividly recalled Sean’s character, interests and travels during his teenage years. In his view, the over-protective and indulgent Lili devoted her whole life to Sean, trying to shelter him in an elite country-club atmosphere. Strikingly handsome (but not at all arrogant or conceited), Sean was outgoing, charming and gracious, down-to-earth, self-assured and adventurous. Fascinated by motorcycles and cars (which he knew how to repair) and addicted to the car races at Sebring, at various times he owned a Triumph motorcycle, a 1957 Chevy convertible, an MG-TD with a special color and an Austin-Healey 4-cylinder racing car. Attracted to danger, he tried scuba diving, went spear fishing with an aqualung and loved drag racing. An expert with guns, he shot rats–using a flashlight to illuminate the moving targets–at the Purina feed plant, hunted wild boar in the Everglades and planned to explore the Mato Grosso in Brazil.


In the late 1950s Sean and Steve went to Havana, where American teenagers could lose their virginity with adolescent whores and revel in drinking, gambling and the degenerate life. At the casinos they gambled and lost, called home for more money, lost again and then lost everything. After their parents refused to send another dollar, they survived (according to Steve) by pimping for their favorite whorehouse and rounding up American tourists for “the best sex in town.” When they finally came home, Lili’s doctor examined them to make sure they hadn’t caught the clap.


In the fall of 1960 the nineteen-year-old Sean entered Duke University in Durham, North Carolina, funded by tobacco money and one of the best universities in the South. Infinitely more sophisticated and experienced than the other students, he was a already minor celebrity. There was excited gossip, especially among the eager girls, about Sean Flynn coming to Duke, which was populated by good ole Southern boys and flirtatious Southern belles. He charmed his way to the presidency of the freshman class with the slogan “You’re In With Flynn” (a variant of the notorious tag, “In Like Flynn,” that had been once attached to Errol), and with an election ad that listed the phone numbers of all the girls’ dorms. After his isolation among the socialites of Palm Beach and the phonies of Hollywood, his indoctrination by military school and by his parents, Sean (unfamiliar with ordinary, sincere people) told a friend that “he had never met a ‘real’ person until he got to Duke University. He knew all that stuff about being a man was bullshit, but … its importance had been drilled into his head from the time he was a child.”


Errol had suddenly died the year before Sean started college. Chuck Adams, a friend at Duke, recalled that Sean seemed to love and adore his father. In college Sean read Errol’s phenomenally successful autobiography, My Wicked, Wicked Ways, which appeared a few months after his death. Inspired, perhaps, by his father’s youthful career as an actor and impressed by Errol’s book, Sean got a small part in an undergraduate production of Born Yesterday. He appeared on stage in a white suit and loafers with no socks, an outfit which instantly became a college fad. He dated striking-looking women and used them to draw attention to himself when they made a dramatic entrance at parties and dances. More gorgeous, even, than Errol, Sean became an idol in his freshman year at Duke.8


Sean seemed bright and serious, went to classes and did some work. But his performance was once again inadequate, and at the end of his first term he was put on academic probation. At the same time, he was offered a role in a movie that was too tempting to refuse. Though he seemed to enjoy college life and could have stayed on if he worked harder, he was torn between staying in college and accepting the offer. Compelled to emulate his father instead of pursuing his own career, Sean decided to leave and made the sudden leap from college idol to movie star.


But, in his heart, Sean knew it wasn’t right for him. He confided to his close friend and Duke classmate Sally Hobbs that he didn’t really want to go to Hollywood. Yet he felt, in an old-fashioned way, that “he had to do honor to the validity of his father’s life


… try the same things out himself.” When Sally questioned him more closely, to clarify his thoughts and help him make a decision, Sean gave a shocking (and surprisingly prescient) forecast of his future:




 “What if you go out there and do this movie?”


“I’ll probably stay out there and get into that whole moviemaking scene.”


“After that, what?”


“I’ll probably get very bored with it.”


“After that?”


“I’ll go sailing around for a while.”


“After that?”


“I’ll go to Africa and do some hunting.”


“Then what?”


“Then, I’ll probably find some way to get myself killed.”





In 1960 the brown-eyed, blond-haired Sean, six feet, three inches tall and 180 pounds, was at the peak of physical perfection. But he’d lost his student deferment, and was in danger of being drafted and sent to Vietnam. Lili arranged for a doctor-friend to get Sean a medical deferment for a bad back or heart palpitation. On March 3, 1961 Time reported that Sean had left Duke “to hunt [mountain] lions in Arizona while waiting for Blood Jr. to coagulate.”


Sean had played a bit part in Where the Boys Are (1960), starring his boyhood pal, George Hamilton. Toward the end of 1961 he left Hollywood to make movies in Europe. He spent the next four years in Paris, living in his late grandmother’s apartment on the Rue Nicholas Chuquet, off the Boulevard Wagram. Sean told an English reporter that he’d made The Son of Captain Blood (1962) to earn $10,000 and that Lili (who’d given up acting when she married Errol) was dead against his film career: “She always hated acting right up until she retired.” But Sean got his film contracts through Lili, who paid a lot of money to keep him in movies and out of Vietnam.9 For Sean, the movies were the best way to escape his overbearing mother, academic problems at Duke and military service. He never took them seriously.


IV


Working very hard, Sean made seven profitable movies in Spain, Italy, Germany and France between 1962 and 1965. The Son of Captain Blood (1962) and Duel at the Rio Grande (1963) were costume dramas; Stop Train 349 and Mission to Venice (both 1963) were spy thrillers; Temple of the White Elephant (1964) was an Asian melodrama; Seven Magnificent Pistols (1965) and Twin Pistols (1966) were spaghetti westerns.


The Son of Captain Blood was the brainchild of Casey Robinson and Harry Joe Brown, who’d written and produced the original Captain Blood that had made Errol a star in 1935. Sean first met them at Errol’s funeral. Ann Todd–a serious English actress who’d appeared in The Seventh Veil and was recently divorced from the director David Lean–played his mother. The overheated movie poster gives a good idea of its cataclysmic content and exploitation of Sean as the son of Errol.




The Most Daring Adventure that ever swept across the Seven Seas:


See an earthquake shatter an island


See a tidal wave drown an entire city!


See Sean Flynn’s debut in the same kind of devil-may-care role that made his father, Errol Flynn, famous


See the mighty sword-play of cut-throat crews slashing their way across the seas!


Starring: Sean Flynn (the son of Errol Flynn), Ann Todd


A Harry Joe Brown Production. Story and screenplay by Casey Robinson.


Directed by Tulio DeMicheli. A Paramount release.





Unlike Errol, who’d worked in an English repertory theater, Sean had no professional training and lacked his father’s cinematic flair, but he looked good in costume and moved well on screen. Though young and inexperienced, he gave a creditable performance in a poor film. The sympathetic Time magazine critic rolled out all the clichés and wrote that “he has an all-American body and a mild Irish charm. He seems to be a Hollywood buccaneer and climb upon the rigging like his daddy used to do.” Variety compared Sean to Douglas Fairbanks, Sr. and Jr., and thought he was a promising actor: “The resemblance [to the Fairbanks] is striking. Flynn fils, when he learns to act, could become a popular screen personality in romantic adventurer roles. He’s handsome, dashing and appears to have inherited his father’s athletic prowess, judging by his agile swordplay and generally graceful moves. As a thespian, however, there’s an enormous amount of room for improvement.”10


While making his best film, Stop Train 349 (also called Delay in Marienborn), Sean, rather naively patriotic, used the negotiating skills he had learned from his mother. Writing from Paris, he told Lili: “The second script had some very un-American dialogue.


… I told them under no circumstances would I do the film, invoking all the sang-froid which I’m sure you would have–and they gave in.” This Cold War B-movie–which starred Jose Ferrer, only two years after he’d played the Turkish Bey in Lawrence of Arabia–portrays the Communist manhunt of an East German refugee, hiding on an American military train that’s traveling from Berlin to West Germany. Variety noted that Sean did his best with a weak script: “the verbal duels between the train commander, Sean Flynn, and the Russians lack the necessary dramatic punch…. Flynn, however, makes a convincing showing.” The New York Times was much more critical: “The on-the-spot production … should have been a solid trenchant thriller, pinpointing the essence of the Berlin Wall in one human’s flight to freedom.” But its defects included the “inept, fumbling direction of Rolf Haedrich and the callow, wooden acting of young Mr. Flynn in the focal role.”11


Sean had a film agent and was offered a contract by Twentieth Century-Fox. But, still struggling to find his own identity, he felt overwhelmed by Errol’s ghost. In 1963 he told Lili: “I’ve been hearing enough about Flynn without encouraging more,” and didn’t want to hear anything else about him till “I feel a little more secure myself.” Sean never liked Hollywood, turned down Fox’s lucrative offer and later described his months there as the “most miserable time of my life.”12


V


In the early 1960s Sean, like the young Errol, had become a glamorous figure: an accomplished hunter, rider, boxer, fencer, tennis player, swimmer and skin diver. He spoke fluent French, passable Spanish and Italian, and drove an expensive Porsche. More detached and aloof than Errol, he didn’t talk very much. He had the impeccable manners and slight accent of a Southern gentleman. Like an ex-military schoolboy, he would say: “Yes, ma’am” and “No, sir” and would politely hold the door open for a prostitute. He had many attractive girlfriends, including the actress Tuesday Weld. For his birthday celebration at a Mexican restaurant in Los Angeles, two beautiful starlets presented him with a live piranha and the balls of a bull, just killed in Tijuana.


In the Paris flat, which Lili maintained, Sean had Errol’s wooden clothes valet, his yacht pennant and his two Purdy shot guns. He also owned a carbine, a .44 Winchester, a .357 magnum and Thompson machine gun. Slightly embarrassed about living on Lili’s largesse, Sean did some work as a fashion photographer and tried to make himself useful. He carried her cash at the casinos in Biarritz, brought money to her bank in Switzerland and picked up a duty-free car along the way. He also tried to reassure Lili, who constantly worried about him and was as over-protective as ever. After a skiing trip in February 1963, he wrote: “I did sprain an ankle (wait a minute, mother, don’t rush out and buy a plane ticket to Paris)–I’m ALL RIGHT.” When Lili sent an electric sheet to warm him up in the cold Paris flat, he candidly told her: “My girlfriend took it as an insult, but then French girls always feel that way, n’est ce pas, ma?”13


While shooting Kim in India, Errol had also shot a leopard. In the winter of 1963, Lili paid for Sean’s next venture: hunting big game in Pakistan and Africa. She also sent news of his exploits to the local newspaper, which proudly published a photo of Sean crouching next to his trophy. Under the headline “Palm Beach’s Sean Flynn Slays Man-Eating Tiger,” they quoted Sean’s comment: “I was given 100 rupees bounty and a certificate from the government expressing extreme gratitude for slaying the tiger which had taken the lives of three woodsmen. In addition, the certificate includes a government invitation to return.” In 1965 he became a safari guide in Tanzania and spent a year training to be a white hunter, but lost interest before he got his license. In Africa, as in college and in movies, he left before completing the project. Admitting that he’d been frightened as well as pleasurably excited by the danger of killing wild animals, Sean said: “The feeling I was going to get killed never left me.”14


When he left Africa and headed for the greater dangers in Vietnam, Sean, like the young Errol, had slept with many women, traveled widely, tried several careers, could handle a gun and knew how to survive in the wilderness. The young man, packing an extraordinary amount of experience into his twenty-four years, had reenacted and exhausted most of Errol’s adventures. Sean had certainly not escaped his father’s all-pervasive influence, and his arrival in the war zone was announced by the headline: “Son of Robin Hood in Viet Nam.”
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Two


Sean’s War, 1966-1969





I


Popular World War II films profoundly influenced the way Americans perceived the war in Vietnam. Movies like Errol Flynn’s Dive Bomber, Desperate Journey and Objective, Burma! combined heroic escapism with realistic images of combat, drew on a deep reservoir of emotion and taught people to believe in the values of movies. The battles in Vietnam, filmed daily and shown on American television every night, cinematized the horrific experience, “converted a shooting war into a real-life war movie” and brought us closer to “the movie in our mind’s eye.” Just as the gangster John Dillinger watched a newsreel about his own crimes shortly before he was caught and killed outside a Chicago movie theater, so Americans, absorbed in the televised version of the war in Vietnam, watched their country progressing inexorably toward its doom.


In 1968 Lyndon Johnson, overwhelmed by the war, decided not to run for reelection and Richard Nixon was elected by promising to get America out of Vietnam. Though he reduced the number of American troops involved, he also made things worse by extending the war into Cambodia. The Marines in Vietnam “had a movie-culture attitude to the war, a John Wayne image of the conflict.” And in the White House, the image of the tough (but almost mindless) hero in the movie Patton also “appealed to Nixon’s self-image, and he had a second showing as the Cambodian crisis deepened. [Secretary of State] William Rogers was dismayed to hear the President repeatedly citing Patton in this context.”1


Perry Young confirmed that the war in Vietnam was a movie to both soldiers and journalists. Everyone had these old images in his head. Soldiers imagined themselves charging the beaches and coming out unscathed. They would use expressions from old movies and say “cover me”–even when inappropriate. The North Vietnamese General Giap’s shocking attacks on Saigon and Hue during the Tet offensive (which was very different from the massive Red Chinese invasion in the Korean War) reminded viewers of the German Blitzkrieg of World War II–with French colonial architecture in the background.


Sean’s close friend, the daring English photographer Tim Page, inspired the drug-crazed character played by Dennis Hopper in Apocalypse Now. Page described, in revved-up language, how Sean swung into action after Tim was injured by a grenade explosion in Da Nang: “Flynn had double-timed it back to the centre [of town] and dragged mad Major Mike Molloy out in a jeep which they had driven, lights on, up the street to the house. Frontally ballsy. The star photo had Flynn and Mike carrying me, head bloodily swathed in a mosquito net, on the front door. I rode that way, balanced across the back of the jeep, to the airbase infirmary. It was straight out of a World War II movie.” Though the Vietnam war was morally indefensible, the comparison with World War II made it seem valid and heroic. America could not save Southeast Asia from Communism in the same way it had saved Europe from Hitler. But politicians and generals kept invoking the false analogy right up to the end.


In Dispatches, the most brilliant personal account of the ground war, Michael Herr revealed how the old war images both inspired and deceived the men in combat:




[The] Dawn Patrol fantasy would turn very ugly, events again and again not quite what you had expected …. All the kids who got wiped out by seventeen years of war movies [came] to Vietnam to get wiped out for good…. They were actually making war movies in their heads, doing little guts-and-glory Leatherneck tap dances under fire, getting their pimples shot off for the networks…. [It was] some kind of jungle play with giant helicopters and fantastic special effects, actors lying out there in canvas body bags waiting for the scene to end so they could get up again and walk it off.





In Graham Greene’s The Quiet American, the best novel about the end of the French era in Indochina, the narrator, escaping into the movies, contrasts Errol’s heroic invulnerability with the ugly reality of war: “[I] went into the cinema next door–Errol Flynn… swung on ropes and leaped from balconies and rode bareback into Technicolor dawns. He rescued a girl and killed his enemy and led a charmed life…. The sight of Oedipus emerging with his bleeding eyeballs from the palace at Thebes would surely give a better training for life today. No life is charmed.”2 The son of actors, himself an actor whose movies were being shown in Saigon, Sean seemed the very embodiment of the movie image of his father. As a Paris Match photographer, he got behind the camera, “shot” the Vietnam war and created a series of vivid images. When shown on television, they strengthened the connection in the public mind between the heroics of Hollywood movies and the battles of Vietnam. Michael Herr described this hall-of-mirrors cycle as “Life-as-movie, war-as-(war) movie, war-as-life.”


Herr, who hero-worshipped Sean (and later worked on the screenplays of Apocalypse Now and Full Metal Jacket), gave a perceptive account of how gracefully Sean carried the burden of his famous father. He dealt with resentment about his minor celebrity, formed strong friendships and soon created his own–more realistic–heroic image:




The Marines were looking hard at Flynn and you could see that he was blowing their minds, the way he blew minds all over Vietnam.


He was (indeed) the Son of Captain Blood, but that didn’t mean much to the grunts since most of them, the young ones, had barely ever heard of Errol Flynn. It was just as apparent to anyone who looked at him that he was what the Marines would call “a dude who definitely had his shit together.”… We all had our movie-fed war fantasies, the Marines too, and it could be totally disorienting to have this outrageously glamorous figure intrude on them, really unhinging, like looking up to see that you’ve been sharing a slit trench with John Wayne or William Bendix. But you got used to that part of Flynn quickly.


When he’d first arrived in Vietnam … he had been considered news himself, and a lot of stories were written about his early trips into combat …. [Many journalists] could not afford to admit that anyone who looked as good as Flynn looked could possibly have anything more going for him…. [He’d made] those movies that people were always judging him by…. Flynn moved on and found his friends among those who never asked him to explain himself…. (Colonel George Patton, Jr., put him through one of those my-father-knew-your-father trials.) …. The grunts [would] … tell him that they’d caught one of his flicks on R & R in Singapore or Taiwan…. During his years in Vietnam, he realized that there really were people whom he cared for and could trust, it must have been a gift he’d never expected to have, and it made him someone who his father, on the best day he ever had, could have envied.





In the summer of 1966, when running short of money, Sean made his eighth and last movie, Cinq Gars pour Singapore (English title: Five Ashore for Singapore), which was filmed in that city and earned him $6,000 a week for several weeks. “I developed a taste for real Chinese food,” wrote Sean, trying to shock his mother. “Bêche-de-mer, a sort of sea-slug, shark fin soups … and of course the occasional roast dog or two.” The wild plot of the movie concerns American Marines, kidnapped in Hong Kong by Red Chinese. A CIA agent and four Marines (the five guys of the title) are sent to rescue them. Variety found Sean “crisp and dedicated as the CIA man” who, quite naturally, saves the day. Modest about his own performance, Sean tried to explain his unexpected success: “I think it was the worst thing I ever did, but the big joke is that everybody loves it…. The only answer is that I have an American outlook and style of acting in a French film which is traditionally high-powered and contains a lot of excited people.” The marquee on the local theater advertised Cinq Gars “starring Saigon’s own Sean Flynn” and the bar girls adored it. Though Sean didn’t use Errol’s name to get ahead, everyone knew who he was. Soldiers would ask, “Aren’t you Flynn’s kid?” and give Sean a ride while other guys had to walk.


Errol had been declared medically unfit for World War II; adopting his father’s daredevil image, Sean reported the war in Vietnam. Just as Errol took many risks in his movies but always survived to win the girl at the end, so Sean–taking even greater risks–felt he too could remain invulnerable and survive. Speaking in cinematic terms, he told a French reporter: “Mud and fear, blood and death, these, where no films exist, is where my life is.”3 Though this dramatic statement linked Sean to Errol’s reckless character, it also showed that he was going beyond his father. Though fully aware of the difference between movies and real war, he was driven by dreams of glory and dared fate to destroy him. Sean, Tim Page and Michael Herr, all influenced by old war movies, went to the new war and themselves became cultural artefacts: characters in a movie called Vietnam. Sean, who’d acted war heroes in movies, was photographed in combat and even killed one of the enemy. Page inspired a character in a film written by Herr.


II


Every son wants his father’s approval and recognition for his own achievements. But the greater the father’s success, the harder it is for the son to win that essential approval. Robert Bly’s Iron John records many myths and fables in which the son can achieve full masculine power only by passing through danger and defeating his father’s ghost. Lewis Puller, for example, son of the highly decorated Marine General “Chesty” Puller, was isolated from his men, surrounded by hostile troops and left with a jammed rifle just before the explosion that cost him both legs. Despite his helplessness, he felt guilty and unworthy, and confessed: “I had spent my last healthy moments in Vietnam running from the enemy. I came to feel that I had failed to prove myself worthy of my father’s name.”


John Steinbeck IV, the writer’s son and Sean’s close friend, shared the burden of a famous father whom he could never hope to equal. A soldier, then a journalist and, finally, a Buddhist monk, he was loosely connected to the news agency that later broke the story of the My Lai massacre. In his moving memoir, John spoke for Sean as well as for himself when he described the difficulty of forging his own identity: “I cannot say that I have grown accustomed to wearing his name; it is also my own. He gave it to me; I didn’t choose it. Nevertheless I have been aware all my life that it is a name sufficiently unusual that it immediately connects me to him and places me primarily as ‘the son of the novelist’ before anything else may be said about me.” Sean said that young Steinbeck “saved me decades of learning to live with a name that is only partly your own.”4


In Vietnam–as at Duke, in Hollywood or on the Zaca–Errol’s influence on Sean was overwhelming. He tried to deny his father’s influence while trying to compete with it. The war correspondent Tom Corpora recalled that when they were walking in downtown Saigon, two middle-aged Frenchwomen approached them. One of them, gesturing emphatically with her arm, said something about Sean. Tom thought they’d noticed Sean’s great looks. But Sean said, “that’s my father,” and meant they were not looking at him, but at Errol’s son. Tim Page said Sean didn’t like to talk about Errol and rarely mentioned him. Perry Young felt Sean’s attitude was confused, ambivalent, contradictory. He sometimes said he hated his father, but also claimed they’d been real pals. Sean said that “in my whole life I’d seen Errol only fifteen times,” yet his exact count reveals how much he valued their rare meetings. “The real father I was looking for,” he told Young, “was the father within”–the part of Errol that was also part of himself.5


Errol influenced Sean’s outlook on life: who he was, where he went and what he did. Errol had stuntmen to do the most dangerous things. Sean did them all himself. Carrying Errol’s flask into combat, he competed against the cinematic image playing in the back of his head and tried to outdo his father. “His old man,” wrote Tim Page, “had never put a foot in true combat boots, merely played the role. Sean really wanted to find out what it was all about, grab the experience by the balls and come out alive with some decent images. He was anxious to shuck his dad’s decadent image, to discover himself and create his own persona, no longer shadowed by his parentage.”


Michael Herr emphasized the risk of mingling fantasy and reality. Sean had “a war behind him already when he’d confronted and cleaned the wasting movie-star karma that had burned down his father. In so far as Sean had been acting out, he was a great actor. He said that the movies just swallowed you up, so he did it on the ground, and the ground swallowed him up.” The poet John Balaban quoted a black corporal who had seen Sean in combat and summed up his achievement: “That boy … do in real life what his daddy do in the movies.”6


III


In 1961, when John Kennedy was president, the United States tried to build up the South Vietnamese army in order to stop the spread of Communism in Southeast Asia. After an attack on American warships in the Gulf of Tonkin in August 1964, Congress authorized Lyndon Johnson to take executive action. Attacks on U.S. bases in February 1965 were followed by heavy bombing of North Vietnam; Marines and an airborne brigade landed that spring. By August 1965 America had 125,000 soldiers in Vietnam; by the end of 1966 there were 400,000. Bombing missions that year averaged 164 a day. American intervention checked the Communist advance in 1967, but the war aroused intense opposition at home. The surprise North Vietnamese Tet offensive of February 1968 was a military failure, but it revealed American vulnerability and turned the Johnson administration against massive military operations in Vietnam. Bombing raids were curtailed after March 1968 and tentative peace talks began in May. Nixon began to withdraw troops in June 1969; and a further reaction against the war took place that November when the army revealed the American massacre of civilians at My Lai. Sean came to Saigon as a war photographer in January 1966, at the height of the American build-up, left for a year in February 1967 and returned a year later, just after the Tet offensive.


Most great modern news stories have actually been based on photographs. Crucial photos, representing the essence of recent wars, have had a greater emotional impact than news accounts or radio reports: Robert Capa’s Spanish Loyalist soldier, shot at the moment he’s scrambling over the trench; Americans raising their flag on Iwo Jima, Russians placing theirs atop the Brandenburg Gate. Three dramatic, almost theatrical images formed the American idea of the brutality in Vietnam and turned the country against the most photographed war in history: the burning monk, the executed suspect, the napalmed child.


On June 11, 1963 a seventy-three-year-old Buddhist named Quang Doc sat down in the middle of a busy Saigon street, quite near the residence of the American ambassador, to protest the Catholic President Diem’s repressive policies against the monks. As he crossed his legs and assumed the meditative lotus position, a colleague poured gasoline over his shaved head, soaked his orange robe and set him on fire. Separated from the scene by a car with an open hood (perhaps the source of the gasoline), civilians on the left and monks on the right watch the immolation. Sitting bolt upright, the victim is engulfed by the rising flames that sear his flesh. Malcolm Browne’s photo captured this horrific image, which appeared on front pages around the world. More powerful than any reasoned political argument, it undermined America’s support of Diem and helped bring down his regime.


During the Tet offensive in February 1968, the South Vietnamese General Nguyen Lan Ngoc publicly executed a suspected Vietcong prisoner in a deserted Saigon street. Eddie Adams won a Pulitzer Prize for the picture that caught the wiry-armed uniformed general, with his stiff hair in silhouette, his back to the camera and face in profile. The victim, confronting the camera and wearing a patterned shirt, has his hands tied behind him. With the pistol inches from his head, he twists his mouth and tilts his head away before the shot blows out his brains. A helmeted soldier on the left grimaces with horror as the powerful executioner murders the powerless suspect.


In 1972 Nick Ut photographed a naked nine-year-old South Vietnamese girl, Kim Phuc, who’d torn off her blazing clothes. Screaming in pain and fear, and fleeing a South Vietnamese napalm attack on Highway 1, she holds her burned arms away from the charred body that’s covered with the fiery adhesive jelly. Surrounded by four other children, also running and crying in terror, she’s pursued by four armed soldiers as the dark smoke of napalm billows in the background. The child expresses the same silent howl of pain as in Edvard Munch’s The Shriek and Picasso’s Guernica.7 Since the Vietcong did not allow Western newsmen to take pictures of their side of the war, only South Vietnamese brutality–often portrayed in vivid color–appeared nightly on American television.


IV


In a lyrical passage in The Quiet American, Graham Greene described the strange sensual attraction of Vietnam in the midst of war. There was “the gold of the rice fields under a flat late sun; the fishers’ fragile cranes hovering over the fields like mosquitoes; the cups of tea on an old abbot’s platform; … the mollusc hats of the girls repairing the road where a mine had burst; the gold and the young green and the bright dresses of the South, and in the North the deep browns and the black clothes and the circle of enemy mountains and the drone of planes.”


In January 1966 Sean–attracted to the aphrodisiac of war–eluded both the draft board and his mother and arrived in Vietnam. The neat, well-groomed preppy would soon be transformed into a Saigon hippy, with sandals and beads, shoulder-length blond hair, long sideburns and a drooping mustache. He carried two suitcases, an attaché case, a suit, camera and tennis racket, as if he were going on holiday. Working for Paris Match, Sean was very different from the other correspondents. He was the son of famous parents and a celebrity himself; self-assured and charming, unusually handsome and surrounded by beautiful girls; rich and able to buy expensive equipment; and fluent in French, a great advantage in the former colony. He had great field-craft and was a fine shot; and had learned survival techniques that would be invaluable in the jungle and on the battlefield.


On January 26, soon after checking into the journalists’ headquarters at the Hotel Caravelle, the novice wrote a daredevil letter to Steve Cutter, who was safe at home in Florida: “I made it or at least arrived because making it here involves a knowledge of Black Market techniques, imperviousness to heat and the acute knowledge that terrorism is on the increase and [that] appropriate counter-action [is] necessary on your part.–Recreation involves trying to shoot the cockroaches off the walls with rubber bands.”


Sean’s letters to his fearful mom were affectionate and surprisingly frank about his sexual and military adventures. They show, over the years, real maturity, self-confidence and increasing political awareness. A few weeks after he arrived he tried to reassure her about his life in Vietnam, to make it seem as if he were living in an exotic fraternity house and learning a new trade:




Saigon is an overcrowded dirty city, not as bad as India, but bad all the same….


 


Southeast Asia is not a complete cauldron of anarchy and violence as the papers make us believe….


 


[I’m] staying with four other friends in a rented villa–lovely place and good company when I come back from the field. We have a houseboy and his wife, stereo music, PX cards to get food & liquor from the Army. I enjoy myself very much here.


 


[I] have met some extremely interesting people of the real hardcore journalistic school that avoid bull, actors, scandal and Hollywood as much as I do and it has been a very good experience for me.





On June 26 he injected a bit of reality by telling her that Page had been wounded:




Tim Page was one of my good friends and it was an unhappy job I had carrying him to the hospital after the mortar incident. He was lucky to have had only superficial wounds.8





Though Sean’s glamorous image inevitably aroused some resentment, he was modest, soft-spoken and resourceful. To Perry Young, he was still the Southern gentleman, “shy and unstylishly polite and considerate.” Joe Galloway found him an endlessly fascinating chap: charismatic, good fun, good company, good in the field. Page–who shared “Frankie’s house,” at 47 Bui Thi Xuan Street with Sean and three other friends–thought he was laid back and easy to get along with, not a real leader and happy to go along with others. In their spare time they read a lot, made model airplanes, rode their Honda and Harley motorcycles, and “were like the brothers we never had.” John Laurence, another reporter, felt that the still inexperienced Sean “was somewhat shy, self-effacing, very anxious to become part of that group” of front-line photographers. “He seemed to idolize Page and some of the others, at least until he had experienced much serious combat himself and could be seen as a respected member of the group.”9


Sean had used his celebrity to persuade Paris Match to send him to Vietnam as a reporter and photographer. He told the editors that he wanted to discover “la seule grande aventure: celle de la guerre et de la mort.” Herr compared Sean to the stunningly handsome–and mad–French playwright and actor, Antonin Artaud, “coming out of some heavy heart-of-darkness trip, overloaded on the information, the input! The input! He’d give off a bad sweat and sit for hours, combing his moustache through with the saw blade of his Swiss Army knife. We packed grass and tape [marijuana and music]…. Once in a while we’d catch a chopper straight into one of the lower hells.”10


Neil Sheehan, who’s written one of the best books on Vietnam, recalled that most correspondents were patriotic in the early phases of the war: “We regarded this conflict as our war too. We believed in what our government said it was trying to accomplish in Vietnam, and we wanted our country to win this war just as passionately” as the military leaders did. But after the Tet offensive, as the true nature of the American involvement became clear, “a lot of people knew that the country could never be won, only destroyed.” In Frankie’s house (Perry Young recalled) there was no political discussion of the war, no questioning of government policy, no asking why are we in Vietnam. Sean was not political, never voted and avoided all those arguments. He’d lived in Paris in the early 1960s, got his view of the war in France, not America, wasn’t influenced by McCarthyism or indoctrinated with Cold War beliefs. But as this war came more clearly into focus, Sean understood (according to Tim Page) that war achieved its own velocity and became self-consuming; that politicians, like industrialists, were driven by profits; that greed prevailed and wise counsel ignored.


Sean also saw combat as the great adventure. He believed–with our airstrikes and firepower–that we could win the war, but he loved Vietnam and had an intuitive understanding of its people. “Just hearing the way Flynn pronounced the word ‘Vietnam,’” wrote Michael Herr, with some exaggeration, “the tenderness and respect that he put into it, taught you more about the beauty and horror of the place than anything the apologists or explainers could ever teach you.” At the same time, Sean and his colleagues were inevitably naive about the Vietnamese enemy and did not discover, until after the war was over, that a Vietcong colonel had worked in the Saigon Time-Life office as a secret agent.


It did not take long for Sean to acquire a greater understanding of the political situation, and by April 1966–three months after he arrived–he’d become more critical of American policy. Expressing ideas that were commonly accepted later on, he told Lili: “I believe the U.S. government got sucked into the trap of South Asia and that the National Liberation Front will and should take over–they are not all Communists and we have only made the job more difficult by trying to impose a military solution to a political problem…. Don’t let anyone tell you that the North Vietnamese don’t fight like the tough professionals they are.”11


During his years in Vietnam Sean traveled widely: to Singapore, Cambodia, Laos and Indonesia, and to the remote regions of Borneo and New Guinea. With his romantic image and flair for the dramatic, he made a striking impression in both civilian and military life. On March 6, 1966, in combat with the Green Berets in the Ashau Valley, in the mountains west of Hue, Sean was slightly wounded when a grenade fragment hit his knee. He also took his first photos of South Vietnamese interrogators torturing Vietcong prisoners, and felt he’d found a truly meaningful job.


In May he spent three weeks in Malaysian Borneo. He did a color story for the London Weekend Telegraph on the guerrilla war with Indonesia, and sent Lili some vivid details: “We traveled up the Rajang River in central Borneo for 100 miles until we reached the source and spent several days in a native longhouse complete with bare-breasted girls and tattooed gentlemen with Eveready batteries through their ears…. Action photography has me really hooked and I must admit that I ENJOY it more than the tinsel world of cinema.”


During the battle of Da Nang in July 1966, Sean and Page casually robbed the art museum, “an old French stucco building stuffed with badly decaying Cham and Khmer pieces…. Every time Flynn or I returned home,” Page wrote, “we passed through the museum, giving a few stiff tugs and pulls at a couple of cracked Cham heads on plinths.” In August and September–after a brief trip to London and Paris–Sean went to Singapore to make Cinq Gars pour Singapore. On New Year’s Eve he shocked the elegant guests at the French Embassy party by theatrically appearing in the black pajamas, sneakers and pistol belts of the Vietcong. “Flynn was surrounded by the ambassadorial nymphets, passing ready-made joints out of an ammo pouch clipped to his webbing.”


In February 1967, after a year in Vietnam and during a temporary lull in the war, Sean took a year off to visit family and friends in Palm Beach and Hollywood, and to return to his apartment in Paris. On the way back to Europe he stopped in Beirut and, as celebrated war correspondent, was warmly received by French friends and offered the temptations of the rich. He was “wined and dined in an oriental way reserved only for visiting kings or presidents. Invited to stay in ½ dozen chalets … [offered] narcotics, gambling, yachts.”12


Four months later, Sean paid his own way to the six-day, lightning-fast Arab-Israeli War, which was over by the time he got there. But he hired a car, drove to the Sinai desert, and took black and white photographs of the battle’s aftermath: “Miles and miles of burned out trucks, spilled matériel, blasted tanks, rotting bodies…. There were thousands of Egyptians who were straggling in from the desert from lack of water.” The following day, he elaborated his experences in a buoyant letter to Steve Cutter. Emphasizing the heat and exhaustion, which seemed worse than Vietnam, he accurately predicted the October War of 1973:




I was in Israel for their conflict and down into the Sinai desert where the sun rises at 4:20 a.m., and by nine it’s 125 in the shade and you feel like you’ve been waterskiing for 12 hrs straight! It’s also one of the great junkyards of the world now (or graveyards). I was shooting freelance but submitting to Life. But it was well covered by regulars, so I contented myself with a spectacle of destruction, waste and death which made Vietnam pale by comparison. The saddest part is that in another ten years the Arabs will be ready to roll again and will. I don’t foresee any chance for peace, either formally or by tacit agreement. By then I’ll be too old to go chugging over the dunes and empty horizons taking pictures of smoking tank hulks.





On his way back from Sinai, Sean dragged a recoilless rifle behind his rented Volkswagen and gave it to Mandy Rice-Davies (who’d been implicated in the John Profumo spy-and-sex scandal in Britain and had emigrated to Israel) to decorate her discoteque in Tel Aviv. He presented Tim Page with a Russian helmet.


Writing from Paris on July 5, 1967, Sean told Lili that he was leaving one of his French girlfriends: “Vietnam had a lot to do with the decision, if only because it made me realize that I will never be able to settle down–nor do I want to…. Marriage would be death for me because I would have to stop my wandering. Don’t worry about a grandchild–that can always be arranged!” He did not tell Lili, who would have been horrified, that the girlfriend’s eminent father had opposed their relationship and forced his daughter to leave him. After Sean returned to Vietnam, the girl aborted his son. Lili never had a grandchild.13


It was hard to kick the addiction to the magic of Vietnam, which Graham Greene conjured up in Ways of Escape: “The spell was first cast … by the tall elegant girls in white silk trousers; by the pewter evening light on flat paddy fields, where the water buffaloes trudged fetlock-deep in the slow primeval gait; by … the Chinese gambling houses in Cholon; above all by the feeling of exhilaration which a measure of danger brings.” In March 1968 Sean returned to Saigon and shared a flat with Tim Page on the busy Rue Catinat, now renamed Tu Do (Liberty) Street, which ran from the Catholic Cathedral to the harbor. Rumor had it that Graham Greene had lived there while writing The Quiet American. The Blue Bird bar, conveniently located below, was stocked with cheap drinks and girls. Opium pipes could be ordered by phone and were promptly delivered by Peugeot moped. When a Vietnamese tried to steal Sean’s motorbike, he caught the thief, beat him up and took all his money. Saigon made his teenage raids on Havana seem tame.


Perry Young noted that “in late 1968 Flynn went through an outward and visible transformation that many people attributed to a deep inner change. The Green Beret swashbuckler suddenly became a pious student of Oriental art and religion … [and] had a willing teacher in the person of young John Steinbeck IV.” Pumped up by drugs and rock music, Sean read Zen and Buddhist texts, the Book of the Dead, the I Ching, the Bhagavad Gita, the Kama Sutra, and dabbled in the wisdom of the East. He also visited the “Coconut Monk,” a local holy man who had taken a vow of silence till the war ended and was meditating on a Disney-like island in the Mekong River.


In the spring of 1969 Sean spent some time in Laos. The war correspondent James Pringle found him living with a girl “in the second storey of a Chinese shophouse. Vientiane was a hippy haven or heaven in those days and I think Sean spent at least a few weeks there, though the war was low-key (except along the Ho Chi Minh trail which we could not reach). Sean mentioned that he had a girl-friend whom I believe was a Lao-Chinese. Certainly Sean, who could have picked any Western girl in the region, while by no means scorning them, was quite happy to have a local girl-friend.” Carl Robinson, an Associated Press photographer, explained Sean’s rather visionary attitude toward women: “Certainly they were more interested in him than he in them…. In his view of women, Sean looked more to something illusive … something to nourish dreams…. He could also talk fondly of a seventeen-year-old Cambodian who’d roll him pipes in Phnom Penh, massage him to sleep, and cuddle up next to him.”14


During a two-day trip with Pringle from Vientiane to Luang Prabang, “Sean was calm and quiet. We talked about action we had covered in Vietnam, notably with the Marines in the DMZ, and about other journalists we knew–Tim Page, in particular, who was legendary even then.” Pringle described an incident which showed Sean’s characteristic presence of mind and coolness in action:




I was driving along an unpaved track, when I suddenly beheld a very large King Cobra just off centre in the road and on my side. Because the vehicle was so low-slung, this Cobra could easily have struck me as I passed and it looked as if it had every intention of doing that as it reared up and its hood flared out. My thought processes must have been paralysed because I kept on driving towards it. Reacting quickly, Sean reached over and grabbed the wheel and pulled the vehicle out so that we made an arc around the snake, which did indeed attempt to strike but I was out of reach by then, thanks to Sean.





The following month, while Sean was still in Laos, the daring Tim Page sustained his fourth and most serious wound. A booby-trapped shell drove shrapnel into his head, causing a massive brain hemorrhage, and he was declared dead on arrival at the field hospital at Long Binh, northeast of Saigon. Sean got a telegram announcing “VOTRE AMI ETE GRAVEMENT BLESSE ET PEUT-ETRE MOURIR” (Your friend has been gravely wounded and may die). Adopting the defensively stoical stance of a movie hero, Sean remarked: “Well, you just have to make new friends.” When Perry Young said it was all right to cry, Sean began to sob, then said: “‘But a man shouldn’t.’” He rushed back to Vietnam and, Page later recalled, “brought me a beautiful wooden Lao Buddha for the bedside cabinet, creating an instant shrine with the flowers and fruit…. He brought me strength, his energy ebbed from his strong hands into mine, a jolt of life.”


In August 1969, after Page had been flown to America for medical treatment, Sean, exploring a primitive part of West Irian while on assignment for Time-Life, walked from village to village and hitched rides with missionaries. He wrote Lili about his amazing experiences in that strange world: “Spent three weeks in mile high valley called the Baliem in middle of Indonesian New Guinea with aborigines called the Dani, stone age men. I walked about 100 miles visiting missionaries, Dutch Catholics. [I saw] very primitive men who wear only penis sheaths and charcoal-blacked pig fat…. I met the powerful chiefs, war lords and sorcerers, saw magic stones, houses filled with victory trophies, a 150 year old black smoked mummy.”


David Greenway, traveling with Sean, revealed that he was still fascinated by Errol’s adventures, and that he introduced the natives to pot:




Sean cut a very dashing and romantic figure…. He was clearly influenced by his dad, but didn’t talk about him too much. He told me that Errol had killed a man in the Australian part of New Guinea, and that was why he, Sean, was interested in going there….


We got a missionary to fly us up into the Dani highlands. We walked up from the grass strip for many hours. Came to a village of straw huts…. We used sign language to say hello, and they decided to kill a pig for us–a big deal up there. They smoked a strong tobacco called shag.


Sean decided it would be interesting to stone the stone-age men. He wanted to put some marijuana in their shag…. He had stayed on with the stone-age men, stoned them every night, and became the best of pals.15





After returning from the wilds of New Guinea, Sean visited Java, and was deeply moved by the Indonesian landscape and people. He found a house at Kuta Beach near Denpasar, on the island of Bali, took up vegetarianism and yoga, and planned to live there. He’d told Lili that he didn’t want to marry, but now confessed that he’d fallen in love with an exotic beauty:




I would have a lovely brown wife with enormous mocha eyes that can understand the different roles that men and women must act in. Do you know that here these women would eat only fruits & vegetables 10 days before their periods so as to more completely cleanse & freshen their bodies. No perfumes or deodorants, only healthy naturalistic care. Their skins are soft & firm, their black hair lustrous with a sheen made possible by using crushed young coconut curds and jasmine.





Sean had romantic, idealistic views of a simple life, but his girl was from a wealthy upperclass family. “Could I say all this without a girl in mind? Her name is Leeksmi (pronounced: Locksmee [named after a Hindu goddess]). She is 17, in high school. Her father is a Caltex corporation lawyer, her mother a princess from Sumatra…. She is clever, independent and beautiful. I want to marry her and live in Bali. Unfortunately her parents do not agree.”


Frustrated by their refusal, Sean made matters worse by getting involved in an explosive confrontation that confirmed her parents’ prejudice against him. A Djakarta taxi had driver had assumed that Sean’s girl (riding alone with a foreigner) was a whore and tried to pimp for her with a Chinese businessman. When the Mercedes taxi “pulled up in front of Lakshmi’s house, Flynn stepped out of the bushes swinging a baseball bat. He smashed the car’s headlights and windshield, then attacked the driver. The Chinese customer meanwhile had fled. Flynn was put in jail in Djakarta for several days.” On December 4, Sean, who’d told Lili what had happened, tried to reassure her: “I got a lawyer, popped out of jail (I really met some beauts in there), recovered the passport, etc. I’m all legal.” Sean’s friend Joe Galloway, stationed in Djakarta, later explained to Lili that “Sean did become very close to a lovely girl here, of an aristocratic family. The family refused to consider any serious attachment, however, and the girl was sent away to school.”16 Though Sean was handsome and charming, he did not seem a desirable match to rich French and Indonesian families.


When Sean returned to Saigon in March 1970, after seven months in Indonesia, he seemed once again transformed. More quiet and thoughtful, he had very long hair and, like a leisured Mandarin, had grown an inch-long nail on the little finger of his left hand. “There was a dreamer there, I think,” wrote Kate Webb, a New Zealand journalist, “looking for a role, perhaps really a softer one, hence the Bali sojourns. I don’t think he found what he was looking for.” But he was also fatalistic about the future. Living in Saigon, he wrote Lili, “made it seem as though life in the middle of a war was natural, even amusing.” He felt destined to “return to Vietnam where I seem, for some incredible reason, to belong.”17


V


Sean had tried sex, drugs, travel and mysticism, but only the dangers of combat satisfied his addiction to the edge. The throbbing music, the exploding bombs, the fiery colors of napalm produced an almost hallucinatory effect. Sean and Tim Page have been criticized for seeking thrills, acting like “crazies,” taking extravagant risks. Page admitted that “we had a groovy time and came back with pictures; fooled around in hovercraft and helicopters.” Sean agreed that “there was no thrill ‘back in the world’ to compare with what we felt every time we got into a helicopter to be dropped into combat.” Both men, fatally attracted to Vietnam, felt they had to take the risks to get the pictures, and both seemed to revel in the risks they took.


As many as five to six hundred accredited correspondents of both sexes and from all countries had invaded Vietnam to cover the war. Most of them either stayed in Saigon or only went out on day trips. But twelve to fifteen, including Sean and Page, always turned up for the big battles. Hemingway observed that “learning to suspend your imagination and live completely in the very second of the present minute with no before and no after is the greatest gift a soldier can acquire,” and both men learned this crucial lesson. Page agreed that you had to grow up fast in Vietnam and said that in combat teenagers became old men overnight. The survivors quickly saw the transitory nature of life when flesh and bones were pierced and shattered by sharp, hot metal.


By 1969, as Americans at home turned against the war and the soldiers themselves began to realize that it couldn’t be won, the U.S. Army, aided by their weak South Vietnamese allies, faced increasingly powerful Communist forces. Drugs made the war tolerable for many GIs, but also undermined their fighting spirit. Some rebellious grunts, overwhelmed by futility and despair, began to kill their own officers. Neil Sheehan wrote that in the army “men escaped into marijuana and heroin and other men died because their comrades were ‘stoned’ on these drugs that profited the Chinese traffickers and the Saigon generals…. Units in the field were on the edge of mutiny, soldiers rebelled against the senselessness of their sacrifice by assassinating officers and noncoms in ‘accidental’ shootings and ‘fraggings’ with grenades.”18


War tested Sean’s manhood by exposing him to cruelty, danger and death; by showing him how it felt to kill; by enabling him to experience the ultimate comradeship of men who went together to the edge. Sean won the respect of the other reporters by repeatedly proving his courage in combat. His colleague John Laurence wrote that on January 31, 1966, just after he arrived in Vietnam, Sean went into the field “where a brigade of the 1st Cavalry Division was taking part in a large search and destroy operation nothwest of [the coastal town] Qui Nhon…. Flynn was drawn immediately into the most dangerous part of the fighting. I saw him run forward into a hamlet where the shooting was heaviest…. Later, at Frankie’s house, Flynn said that an incoming shell exploded in the tree above him and killed an American soldier next to him. That’s how he got started covering the war.”


American officers expected extraordinary courage from Errol’s son and Sean always met their expectations. Accompanying the 4th Division’s long-range recon patrollers for a month, Sean walked point on dangerous four-man patrols in the northern Highlands. He stayed in a beseiged bunker at Kon Tien where, in only three days, 375 Marines were wounded. He told Page about “stepping over a bank and sinking into a bed of dead leaves; when he pulled his leg up it was stuck in the rotting abdominal cavity of a napalmed North Vietnamese regular.” Sean was invited to join a secret mission to return to the Ashau Valley, where the North Vietnamese had overrun a Green Beret camp. Perry Young reported that




On March 6, two months after he arrived in Vietnam, Flynn was wounded during a sweep through a Michelin rubber plantation. Suddenly, he said, “the whole world” opened fire around him. There was an explosion near him and he fell. Sitting up, he saw the blood oozing through his fatigue pants and felt the wound in his left knee. Because of the trees, there was no way for a helicopter to land and fly Flynn out for treatment. He was forced to walk on the wounded leg for the rest of the day.19





Sean was wounded for the second time by shrapnel in September 1968.


Tom Corpora recalled that though Sean’s camera gave him legitimacy, he “was over the top” in risks and seemed more like an adventurer than a journalist. But when they went on military operations together, Sean always behaved admirably. Traveling with Vietnamese Rangers and accompanied by a U.S. Army captain who acted as an advisor, Sean and Tom tried to find out what would happen if the Americans moved into the Mekong Delta. In what Tom called his worst day of the war, though there was no shooting, they had a tough slog through swampy country. The Vietnamese moved right through it, but when the captain became exhausted, Sean carried his carbine. When Tom, up to his chest in water, said “I can’t go on. I have to rest,” Sean walked on alone and sent a boat back for his friend.


Robert Anson also described Sean’s eagerness to experience risky situations. In March 1966 “Sean immediately proved his mettle by going out on a search-and-destroy operation …. Thereafter he made danger his personal specialty. He loved doing things like accompanying the Green Berets on behind-the-lines missions–‘a hunt,’ Flynn called them–and, on one occasion, during a major offensive, even led a successful charge against a heavily fortified Communist position.”


Lili proudly told a Palm Beach newspaper that “Sean has already been wounded twice. He parachutes with the troops and once had to take a rifle from a dead man to get out of trouble.” Another local paper, interviewing Sean when he came home to visit Lili, described his desire to report the war from the Communist front and the surrealistic atmosphere as children fought on the enemy side during the battle in Da Nang:




The rebels had established a stronghold in a pagoda and neither the Americans nor pro-American Vietnamese were allowed inside. “The pagoda was guarded by kids, some 10 or 12 years old,” said Sean. “They handled rocket launchers and machine guns like cowboy toys. During a brief fire-fight I ran across the square and through the perimeter. Once inside I spoke French and luckily was allowed, even encouraged, to report on the rebels’ side of the story.


“I was the only newsman inside the pagoda for several days and while I was there I was assigned a body guard. I was standing inside waiting for the guard to arrive when an eight year old kid came up to me–a string of grenades around his neck–and said, ‘Got a cigarette?’ I gave him one and he said, ‘O.K. Come with me.’ I explained that I couldn’t since I was waiting for a bodyguard. ‘I’m your guard,’ he said, and off we went.”20





The German photographer Horst Faas emphasized that Sean–who had no professional training and picked up work whenever he could in Vietnam–was not committed to a permanent career and didn’t have to be there: it seemed to be just another phase of his life. Page quoted an astonished soldier (counting the remaining days on his tour of duty) who saw Sean in action and asked: “I mean, no shit, man, are you for real? I mean, you came here, of your own free will? I mean, I mean, are you crazy?” But Michael Herr, defending Sean, stressed his serious purpose, professional commitment and acceptance by the fighting troops who welcomed him as a comrade:




They accused him of coming to Vietnam to play, as though the war was like Africa had been for him, or the South of France or one of the places he’d gone to make those movies that people were always judging him by…. Flynn’s playing was done only on the most earnest levels. He wasn’t much different from the rest; he was deeply fascinated by war, by this war, but he admitted it, knew where he stood in it, and he behaved as though it was nothing to be ashamed of. It gave him a vision of Vietnam that was profound, black and definitive, a knowledge of its wildness that very few of his detractors would have understood…. [Flynn] found his friends among those who never asked him to explain himself, among the GIs and the Apaches of the press corps, and he established his own celebrity there.21





VI


In Vietnam Sean established his reputation as a war photographer. He published many photographs in Paris Match, did a Time cover of a Marine sheltering in a trench and sold his news film to CBS-TV.22 On October 21, 1966 he told Lili that a monsoon at the front had threatened his film and, by now an old hand, was stoical about enemy artillery: “You sit in a foxhole and bail water with a helmet to keep from drowning, hoping that the day’s photos won’t be ruined by rain soaking into the camera. The only good thing is that the mortar bombs lose a lot of their energy in the mud.” Nine months later, still trying to reassure the frantically worried Lili, Sean proudly stressed the lasting value of his work: “You complain that I shouldn’t go and do the things I feel I can do best, namely to photograph a very important, significant part of our times–the photos will one day be history.”


While visiting Palm Beach on home leave in March 1967, Sean told the local newspaper that he’d been willing to take risks and was lucky to survive: “I may not have been as good a photographer as some of the other newsmen in the area, but I went into places and got into situations which they did not. This was the difference. I really took idiotic chances but–here I am.” David Greenway, who’d worked for Time, confirmed: “There may be other, more famous photographers with greater technical skill in Vietnam, but none with more courage and initiative than Flynn.” Tim Page said that magazine editors wanted pictures by Errol Flynn’s son, who maintained his father’s colorful image by carrying live grenades into the Saigon office of Time-Life and alarming the already-jittery staff. Sean had “done the grammar” in still photography and was becoming very good at it. He was ambitious, was getting important commissions and–as he moved from stills to movies–wanted to make a two-way documentary about both sides in the war.23


Three of Sean’s best photographs were published by Horst Faas and Tim Page in their magnificent book, Requiem: By the Photographers Who Died in Vietnam and Indochina (1997). In one, a Vietcong suspect, who soon admitted he was a sniper, is hung upside down and interrogated by Special Forces mercenaries of the Chinese Nung tribe. As a soldier approaches parallel to the tree trunk, the open-mouthed suspect, hanging by ropes around his ankles and bisecting the picture, holds his hands against his bare torso as his spiky hair flares out toward the jungly ground. In the foreground his interrogators–one with a cigarette, the other with a machete–crouch and gaze at him. A third, the light glinting off his wristwatch, stares impassively at the camera.


In the second photo, taken at Duc Phong at the same time and in the same jungly setting, a Vietcong suspect–this time a little boy–sobs after hearing a rifle shot. He thinks the shot has killed his father, but it was actually intended to force him to tell the Nung tribesmen about Communist guerrillas. The deceived but grief-stricken child is surrounded by the armed, omnipotent interrogators who quickly break his spirit and get what they want.


In a color photo taken two years later, a South Vietnamese soldier has just helped retake an enemy outpost. With a green valley, undulating mountains and a cloudy sky behind him, he stands on a brown hilltop in a camouflage uniform, brandishing the bayonet he’s used in hand-to-hand combat. He’s now about to cut the equipment off a muddied and barefoot comrade, dead on the ground in front of him.


The most interesting photo in the book was taken by Sean’s friend Dana Stone in Ha Than in 1968 and published around the world. In the lower left a U.S. medic, holding a jar of plasma, is treating a wounded American officer. Protected by the rising hill, five astonished, open-mouthed South Vietnamese soldiers (one reaching out his right arm) stare at an isolated and exposed American. In full battle dress and holding a grenade, with arms outstretched and right boot in mid-air, he charges over the top of the hill and attacks the North Vietnamese enemy. The caption calls this figure, seen from behind, “a U.S. Special Forces trooper.” But Faas later identified the soldier as Sean. After the officer was wounded, Sean saved the day by assuming one of Errol’s movie roles, leading the charge himself and killing an enemy soldier.24


Sean’s photos, like the best ones taken in Vietnam, captured both the helpless victims and powerful oppressors, caught in the horrors of war. In 1970 the big question for Sean was “Where do you go from here?” In the last three years he had taken more than 10,000 feet of movie film for his documentary about the war, but said he could never finish it without pictures of the Vietcong. He was determined to see the war from the other side.
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